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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

          3  Welcome to the hearing of the Fire and Criminal

          4  Justice Services Committee.  I am Council Member

          5  Hiram Monserrate from the Borough of Queens.

          6                 Today the Committee will examine

          7  proposed Resolution 547-A in support of two bills;

          8  one before Congress and one that is about to be

          9  reintroduced in the New York State Legislature, to

         10  restore the right to vote to parolees.

         11                 In the year 2000 over 4.65 million

         12  Americans, including 131,273 New Yorkers were unable

         13  to vote due to felony disenfranchisement laws.

         14  While most States prevent felons from voting while

         15  serving a sentence, many states also prevent people

         16  from voting even after they have completed their

         17  terms.  In 14 states conviction of a felony

         18  effectively  results in lifetime disenfranchisement.

         19                 I would remind my fellow members that

         20  many different types of crimes are classified as

         21  felonies.  For example, vandalizing a U.S. Mailbox

         22  is a felony. People can lose their right to vote in

         23  this country for knocking over a mailbox.

         24                 New York's laws are not as

         25  restrictive as these states, but still, like 32

                                                            4

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  other states, New York prevents people from voting

          3  while on parole.  These laws also have a grossly

          4  disproportion impact on minorities. Thirteen percent

          5  of African-American, male adult population or about

          6  1.4 million African-Americans are disenfranchised.

          7                 One of the many problems with

          8  disenfranchisement type laws is that they discourage

          9  ex- offenders from reintegrating into society.  We

         10  ought to be encouraging people who have just come

         11  out of prison to participate in the community and to

         12  feel as they are part of the society and its laws.

         13                 Denying ex-offenders a right to vote

         14  sends the opposite message.  The New York State

         15  Assembly Bill S.2039, which was introduced last

         16  session by State Senator Tom Duane and that we

         17  understand will be reintroduced this week would help

         18  change this.

         19                 Under this bill the ex-felon will be

         20  able to vote in local, state and federal elections,

         21  once released from prison, on parole.

         22                 However, this will only improve the

         23  situation in New York.  U.S. House Resolution 259,

         24  will help American's nationwide, by allowing all

         25  parolees to vote in federal elections.
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          2                 Today, the Committee's honored by the

          3  presence of Representative John Conyers, sponsor of

          4  the U.S. House Resolution. I would like to thank him

          5  from traveling from Washington to be with us here

          6  today in New York City.

          7                 Congressman, good morning.  Please

          8  come up to the panel.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

         10  Council Member Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: As the

         12  Congressman is getting settled, I just want to

         13  briefly say, first my appreciation to Council Member

         14  Yvette Clarke for the leadership that she has

         15  provided in bringing this matter before this

         16  Committee as expeditiously as possible and as

         17  professionally as possible.

         18                 This is obviously a very important

         19  matter to me and to many New Yorkers, especially

         20  those of color.  I know that nothing short of an

         21  emergency would have stopped her from being here and

         22  I want to send my sympathies and hopes for a speedy

         23  recovery in her family, so that she can get back to

         24  do the business of the people of the City of New

         25  York, which I know she loves to do.
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          2                 And, I also want to thank the other

          3  members of this Committee for their patience in

          4  allowing the press conference to sort of interrupt a

          5  little bit of time before we could begin.

          6                 So thank you very much Mr. Chairman.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

          8  you and once again the Chairperson Yvette Clarke was

          9  unable to be here due to some personal emergencies.

         10  We hope all is well with her and her family and

         11  before we get started, I would like to introduce

         12  some of the other members of the Committee.  To my

         13  left is Tony Avella from Queens, Tracy Boyland from

         14  Brooklyn Bill Perkins from Manhattan, myself Council

         15  Member Hiram Monserrate from Queens and to my right

         16  Charles Barron, also from Brooklyn.

         17                 Congressman, good morning.

         18                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Good morning Mr.

         19  Chairman and Members of the Council. I am so honored

         20  to be here again.  I have submitted a humble request

         21  for a small office space here so that when I come on

         22  this regular basis in the year of 2003, that I will

         23  be even more comfortable and at home, than I am now.

         24  I don't expect you to act on that before the day is

         25  out, but at least know that the request has been
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          2  made.

          3                 Happy New Year, Happy day after the

          4  birthday of Martin Luther King, and it is with great

          5  pleasure that I join you here this morning. I send

          6  the greetings of the President of the Rainbow Push

          7  Coalition, who is meeting at his annual Wall Street

          8  Project conference, of which I am working on with

          9  them on the portion that deals with their

         10  affirmative action case that will be heard in the

         11  United State Supreme Court in the first week of

         12  April.

         13                 I am delighted once again to praise

         14  this Council, which must be a model for City

         15  Legislatures across this nation in terms of

         16  understand the relevance of important federal issues

         17  to their own constituency.  The case that is before

         18  us is a measure that has had some bipartisan support

         19  I am happy to say.

         20                 In the 106th Congress, a Republican

         21  Congressman from Florida, of all places, named Mr.

         22  Kennedy, was the Chairman of the Committee on the

         23  Judiciary Committee on which I served, that held

         24  hearings on this very bill.  And, the bill in

         25  essence requires that in each state that there be no
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          2  prohibitions in the election laws of the State that

          3  would preclude anyone from voting in federal

          4  elections if they have served their time,

          5  unconditionally.

          6                 I report to you my brothers and

          7  sisters, that we have 30 states that have some form

          8  of barriers, 13 states that have unconditional

          9  barriers and the rest that permit voting.  The State

         10  of New York falls into the first category, that

         11  there are some barriers.  And, I will be able to

         12  respond to those.

         13                 But, first you must understand that

         14  there are 4.6 million American citizens who were

         15  barred from voting due to state felony

         16  disenfranchisement laws in the last national

         17  election.

         18  And so, we have a very serious problem.  We are not

         19  here to go into other issues related to criminal

         20  justice matters, but it cannot be not stated that

         21  there are over two million persons incarcerated in

         22  the prisons of the states of the United States at

         23  this moment.  An all time record high, surpassed

         24  only by the Nation of Russia. China does not give

         25  out these figures, and at the same time that we have
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          2  two- plus million prisoners, we have 600 thousand

          3  people being released from prison every single year.

          4    Many of them cannot vote.

          5                 In Florida, in the presidential

          6  election of 2000, we had some 50 thousand people in

          7  Florida that were denied the right to vote because

          8  they were told when they went to the polls, that

          9  they were ex- felons and therefore under Florida

         10  State Law could not vote- 50 thousand.

         11                 So this is an important matter that

         12  needs immediate remediation.  We have a copy of the

         13  bill, which I will leave with you.  I've been

         14  privileged to bring my legislative staffer attorney

         15  Keenan Keller from the House Judiciary Committee.

         16  Why he is sitting in the back is a total bafflement

         17  to me, since I am about to be cross- examined by the

         18  Council of New York, and with that ladies and

         19  gentlemen I conclude my statement and will ask that

         20  my written statement be republished in the record.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         23  you very much. Questions from the Committee?  Bill?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         25  very much Mr. Chairman.  Again Congressman Conyers,
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          2  thank you for your presence and all the good work

          3  that you have been doing over the years. We have

          4  made arrangements for the room, as I shared with you

          5  earlier. It's at 250 Broadway on the 19th floor, and

          6  it's that part of the suite where there is a sign

          7  that says, "Me officina ese su officina" (in

          8  Spanish). And in any case we look forward to seeing

          9  you again.

         10                   CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: I am so

         11  grateful.

         12                   COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But, there

         13  are some supporters, earlier you announced that you

         14  have resubmitted your legislation and that you need

         15  some supporters.  Maybe for the record you can let

         16  us know the status of your legislation as it's

         17  resubmitted and a list of some of those who are on

         18  that legislation as it is presently.

         19                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: We can provide

         20  you right now with the list of the 28 people who are

         21  co- sponsors of that legislation.  I might say on

         22  behalf of all of my colleagues from Congress in the

         23  State of New York, that we were in session, we were

         24  sworn in at noon on January 7th.  We had about a one

         25  hour session on January 8th, so there was no way
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          2  that any of the members, outside of the ones that

          3  were on it before and were anxious to proceed with

          4  this, called me and got on it again.

          5                 Lydia Velasquez, our beloved

          6  colleague from New York has just agreed to

          7  co-sponsor the bill. We are calling around now on

          8  the staff, to let every member know that we are

          9  before the City Council of New York and if you would

         10  like to have your name mentioned here favorably, all

         11  you have to do is call Attorney Keller.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are there

         13  other New Yorkers that are on your list of sponsors

         14  or co-sponsors?

         15                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Yes sir.

         16  Congressman Charles Rangel of New York is among the

         17  28; Congressman Major Owens is also at this moment

         18  already a co-sponsor.

         19                 And, by the way, I should say that

         20  your Junior Senator of New York, Hillary Clinton,

         21  voted for an amendment. There is an interesting

         22  episode in the United States Senate, in which

         23  Senator Reid of Las Vegas, Nevada, introduced this

         24  whole bill as an amendment to the Election Reform

         25  Bill and it was voted down, but Senator Clinton
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          2  voted for it.

          3                 This bill is being sponsored by

          4  Senator Finegold of California, is the sponsor of

          5  this same bill in the Senate and we have a very

          6  active group going on there.  It did not prevail on

          7  the Election Reform Bill because there were those

          8  that claimed that it would have broken the agreement

          9  on the compromises that had already been made and so

         10  it was not accepted with that legislation.  The

         11  Election Reform legislation has been signed into law

         12  by the 43rd President.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Apparently

         14  there is a lot of confusion because of the different

         15  rules or different laws in the various states and

         16  what does your law do?  Does it sort of set one

         17  standard, or will there still be state's rights type

         18  standards that can circumvent your law, or does it

         19  just say that this is the law that everybody now can

         20  vote, is they have a felony?

         21                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: That is the key

         22  question. It is that we erased from all the states

         23  the incredible different requirements, exemptions

         24  that are now embedded in the law in the states.  We

         25  here, cannot forget that literacy tests were once a
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          2  requirement that some states employed.  We cannot

          3  forget that the poll tax was a state requirement, as

          4  a condition to voting in many states.  We are now

          5  coming around to get rid of a former felony

          6  conviction on a citizen who has served his time,

          7  paid his dues, and is in the process of being

          8  rehabilitated.

          9                 So, we wipe out any and all statues

         10  that are created by the state legislators.  Rules

         11  that are created by the State Boards of Elections,

         12  which frequently have jurisdiction over these

         13  applications for reinstatement for voting, are all

         14  eliminated as far as a federal election is

         15  concerned.  Every single one of them, no exceptions.

         16    One uniform standard for voting in federal

         17  elections in the United States of America.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 Councilman Barron?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 First, Congressman Conyers, I just

         24  wanted to let you know that it is indeed an honor

         25  for me every time you come here to grace our
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          2  presence because of our history and our struggle.

          3  And I am one fighting to get some of these pictures

          4  changed here at City Council, certainly if one of

          5  these guys could be substituted for your picture, I

          6  think having your picture gracing these chambers

          7  would be indeed an honor.  Do you want to take a

          8  vote on that now or should we wait?

          9                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Please wait.

         10  Please do not call the roll on that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But, I am very

         12  flattered and I am very serious about that, we are

         13  indeed honored to have you here.  Also, I wanted to

         14  say to my colleagues, I know I get talked about for

         15  my radical politics, but I want to let you all know

         16  for this Committee, because I was feeling a little

         17  uncomfortable.  I am sitting on the right, next to

         18  Jimmy Oddo, a Republican from Staten Island, so I

         19  just want to make sure that goes on the record.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That

         21  is duly noted.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But, on a very

         23  serious note could you elaborate a little on where

         24  New York State stands with some of the differences,

         25  where is New York on this question?
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          2                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Thank you

          3  Councilman Barron. May I yield to my Staffer

          4  Attorney, Keenan Keller to more fully respond?

          5                 MR. KELLER: New York is actually

          6  among a group of states that the Congressman

          7  referenced at the beginning of his remarks that

          8  require an individual upon release and completion of

          9  parole, rather than simply release, to go through a

         10  procedure to then have their voting rights restored.

         11                 The legislation is designed to create

         12  uniformity as the Congressman said, so that when an

         13  individual is released from prison, as a requirement

         14  of the legislation their then told exactly what

         15  their voting rights are upon release, to actually

         16  reobtain their state voting rights and that a state

         17  cannot prohibit them from voting or registering to

         18  vote in a Federal election.

         19                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Let me ask you

         20  just a follow- up question on that.  I know in some

         21  states, like in Maine and Vermont, I think prisoners

         22  can actually vote in prison.  Is it any way we can

         23  have it so that they don't even lose their voting

         24  rights or so they don't have to go through the

         25  complication process of getting the education to get
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          2  it restored.

          3                 But what about, I did a crime, I not

          4  going to lose my citizenship, I just have to pay the

          5  time for that crime and the voting rights should not

          6  even be maybe in question at all, they shouldn't

          7  even lose it, so they don't have to restore it in

          8  the first place.

          9                 MR. KELLER: The United States is

         10  actually rather peculiar as the leader of democracy

         11  world- wide. That as a general matter people do lose

         12  their voting rights while they are incarcerated.

         13  You did mention the two states that do not bar

         14  voting while individuals are incarcerated.  But, in

         15  many countries in Canada and in Europe, for example,

         16  the fact that you are incarcerated doesn't mean that

         17  you lose those particular citizenship rights.

         18                 One of the other peculiarities with

         19  respect to voting is that for the purposes of the

         20  census, and this has a highly negative impact on New

         21  York State, is that for individuals who are

         22  incarcerated in Federal prisons across the country,

         23  for the purposes of the census, they are actually

         24  counted as being resident of those states, for the

         25  purposes of obtaining Federal grants in dollars and

                                                            17

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  things like that.

          3                 So, there is a lot of discontinuity

          4  within the law and this legislation is designed to

          5  start chipping away at that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: On the census

          7  question, as it relates to this law as well, and I

          8  will be finished Mr. Chair, after this last

          9  question.

         10                 I read an article where whites are

         11  actually counted twice sometimes in the census.  I

         12  think over four million whites were counted twice;

         13  once in the town where some of them may have been

         14  incarcerated, and in the town that they actually

         15  lived or where they went to school or were in the

         16  military, where they lived.  How will this

         17  legislation impact the census count and what other

         18  aspects of it will impact anything in New York

         19  State, other than when they just get released and

         20  then they will be given their rights?  Is there any

         21  other piece of it that will have impact on New York

         22  State?

         23                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Councilman

         24  Barron, because we want to effect a speedy passage

         25  of this measure as possible, this is a very narrowly
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          2  tailored bill.  And, at this point it does not

          3  affect census, the counting, which -- I would love

          4  to examine the claim of a double count because I am

          5  not familiar with it.

          6                 But, we do know for example, in

          7  Michigan that many of those African- American

          8  youngsters who are incarcerated and are moved to

          9  Jackson Prison, or other prisons throughout the

         10  state, are counted for Federal funding and for state

         11  block grants as citizens of the state of the prison

         12  in which county they are in prison in, which is

         13  something else that has to be looked into.

         14                 But, we did not approach those

         15  questions in this bill.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well thank you

         17  very much, it's an honor and we're glad that you are

         18  here and you have our full support.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

         20  Council Member Tracey Boyland?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Congressman,

         22  it's a pleasure to have you in New York.  I first

         23  had the pleasure of meeting you when I was an intern

         24  for the Congressional Black Caucus when Amelia

         25  Parker and everyone was there.
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          2                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: In Washington

          3  then?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Yes, in

          5  Washington. I actually went to Morgan State

          6  University, I want to tell Bill Perkins that.

          7                 First let me address the question of

          8  the population count and you should have touched on

          9  it but we will not go into it. I think that is very

         10  key, especially in New York State where in New York

         11  City the population, our prisoners in long term,

         12  actually go upstate so the revenue in dollars and

         13  cents that is generated based on that count is very

         14  important because we don't actually receive that in

         15  New York City.

         16                 As we look at how the Rockefeller

         17  Drug Laws and other things that effect New York

         18  City, that causes a population that doesn't

         19  economically support us, is something to question

         20  that this Committee has obviously brought up before,

         21  and I think we'll do again.

         22                 Let me just as you a question about

         23  the opposition in terms of the shifting in power in

         24  Washington and how passage of democratic issues or

         25  issues that concern, and I say people in

                                                            20

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  impoverished areas, of people of color or people

          3  that are otherwise disenfranchises, the shifting of

          4  power from Republic based versus Democratically

          5  based, effecting passage of this particular

          6  legislation?

          7                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: In terms of the

          8  108th Congress?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Yes.

         10                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Well, actually

         11  although there have been shifts in the Congress in

         12  both the Senate and the House, there has only been a

         13  couple of seats in each house that have been

         14  affected.  So, there is literally no change in terms

         15  of the political party makeup that would affect the

         16  passage of this bill in a house of 435 members, we

         17  need only 218 votes.  In the Senate we need 51

         18  votes.  We don't anticipate that the election shifts

         19  of 2000 will in any way impede the passage of this

         20  bill.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay.  And,

         22  my second question is involving -- concerning women,

         23  as the Chair of the Women's Issues Committee for New

         24  York City, the concern is always how do we really

         25  pull back the power.  We know that women have a

                                                            21

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  great deal of power in terms of their influence

          3  based on the fact that we are one of the largest

          4  voting populations in the United States.  But, how

          5  does this in terms of the legislation really affect

          6  women that have been incarcerated, or women in terms

          7  of the count of women that have now been affected by

          8  or will be affected by this legislation?

          9                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: There is no

         10  gender distinction in this legislation.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Oh, okay. Can

         12  we talk about that, in terms of the breakdown, in

         13  terms of men verses women?

         14                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Well, we can get

         15  you prison statistics from the Federal Corrections

         16  that will indicate to you how many women are

         17  incarcerated as opposed to men and I think we can

         18  also further break that figure down into how many

         19  women of color are incarcerated and how many men of

         20  color are incarcerated. We can provide you with

         21  those figures. We would be delighted to do so.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: That would be

         23  very helpful.

         24  Thank you very much sir.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Is
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          2  there any other questions from the Committee

          3  members?

          4                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Mr. Chairman,

          5  may I just point out one telling incident?  In the

          6  State of Florida, the only way you can recover your

          7  vote after being incarcerated for a felony, is to be

          8  pardoned by the Governor of the State and your vote

          9  is restored.

         10                 It is very interesting to me that in

         11  a state where 400 thousand African- Americans have

         12  lost their vote by virtue of having served a term

         13  for a felony, that the Governor of that state, whose

         14  name I need not repeat, was very eager to pardon

         15  Chuck Coleson, a member of the Watergate Scandals of

         16  a few years back and restored his voting rights

         17  immediately.  The other 400 thousand African-

         18  Americans still are precluded by Florida State law

         19  from participating in Federal elections.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

         21  Clearly the observation you make is telling in terms

         22  of a discriminatory impact that is taking place

         23  throughout our country with that particular example

         24  being probably emblematic of what we see in going on

         25  in other places.
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          2                 Thank you very much Congressman, we

          3  really appreciate your presence. And, don't forget

          4  your office is on the 18th floor, 250 Broadway.

          5                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: I thank you

          6  repeatedly.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

          8  Congressman, I hope you can indulge one or two more

          9  questions from the Committee members.

         10                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: I surely do.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:     We

         12  have now been joined by Council Member James Sanders

         13  from Queens and he has a question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you Mr.

         15  Acting Chair.

         16                 Congressman Conyers, it's always a

         17  pleasure to see you sir, if it were not to take away

         18  from the people of your state, I would try to find a

         19  way for you to come over to this state?  But, I am

         20  sure that the people there would have one or two

         21  small problems, so there is no sense in that.

         22                 To here you speak out on all of the

         23  issues of the day, and this one in particular, it is

         24  always comforting for those of us who are concerned

         25  about that.  We warm each other, if you wish.  Like
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          2  yourself, I feel that justice should be restorative,

          3  not simply punishment.  The purpose of justice is to

          4  restore a community.  It's funny that the birthday

          5  of the Reverend Martin Luther King, Jr. Was

          6  yesterday and we will celebrate it in a few days, or

          7  at least on the Federal level.  And, everyone is

          8  speaking about justice, but there is very little

          9  movement.

         10                 Here is a way that our Governor, that

         11  our Federal Officials can, with the stroke of a pen,

         12  show that they understood the true lessons of the

         13  Reverend Doctor instead of all of the mountains of

         14  words that we are going to hear within days.

         15                 I encourage what you are saying, I

         16  think that it is critical.  Is there any one thing

         17  that you would want the City Council to do, or City

         18  Councils for that matter, not just this one,

         19  throughout this great nation.  Is there anything

         20  else that you believe that we could do to put

         21  pressure and aid in your efforts on the Federal

         22  level sir?

         23                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: There are two

         24  things that come to mind immediately, Mr. Chairman.

         25  First, is that your support and ultimate endorsement

                                                            25

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  should be sent to every City Council in the United

          3  States of America.

          4                 Secondly, that we begin a Committee

          5  of Councils who join with you and become a party to

          6  this and we would like you to come to Washington to

          7  testify as to how this impacts upon your

          8  constituencies when we have our hearings.

          9                 I think nationalizing this, but

         10  starting from the bottom up, with those who

         11  represent people right at the ground level in their

         12  neighborhood will serve to stimulate the support of

         13  many members of Congress, who might not otherwise be

         14  moved to be one of the 218 in one body and 51 in

         15  another that we need for the successful passage of

         16  this measure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Your points

         18  of course sir, insightful as ever and bordering on

         19  brilliance sir.  I trust that we will follow that

         20  suit. Mr. Chair, I am finished.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         22  you Mr. Sanders. Another question from Council

         23  Member Boyland.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I'm sorry

         25  Congressman, I just have a follow- up question.  I
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          2  was just remembering a conference that was held

          3  about three years ago in Albany and the concern was

          4  in regards to, and this may be an elementary

          5  question, but it may inform and educate me.

          6                 There was a movement to educate, I

          7  would assume felons, on how they can restore their

          8  voting rights.  I refer back to those that actually

          9  attended the conference.  It was very brief.

         10                 But, is this legislation in terms of

         11  the Federal input, is this based on, like you said

         12  when you used the example of the Governor of

         13  Florida, and you said that he was able to restore

         14  and give a pardon to those that he chose.  Is that

         15  just indicative of those particular states or can --

         16  was there some point in time a movement or a time

         17  frame or period of time that felons can apply or

         18  parolees can apply to vote actually?  I am asking

         19  the question- it was something that I heard three or

         20  four years ago and it just came back to me.

         21                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Councilwoman

         22  Boyland, each state is at liberty to create any

         23  rules, regulations, exemptions, or mandatory

         24  requirements that they choose, and they do. They are

         25  all at odds with one another.  Many of them will
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          2  choose to make a drug offense a total probation to

          3  ever voting, as opposed to murder offenses.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay.

          5                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: It's incredible.

          6    We are in the process of compiling and we will

          7  send to the Chairman of the sub committee the

          8  results of our research in which we put together all

          9  the restrictions and probations that each state

         10  employs at their own whim and discretion.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay.  So, I

         12  guess that answers my question in terms of the

         13  petition that the State Assembly and the Senate at

         14  that time, as well as the City Council was looking

         15  at in terms of looking at, at the time -- Governor

         16  Pataki was in -- what we can do again that refers

         17  back to our Rockefeller Drug Law.  Okay. Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Ms. Boyland,

         20  could I take this moment to introduce you to the

         21  women that have come here with me and a gentlemen

         22  that has not been introduced.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Sure.

         24                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS:  We have from

         25  Beverly Hills, California Attorney Sue Winchester,
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          2  who is here in the Council hearing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Welcome Sue.

          4                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: And, we also

          5  have Ms. Marian Brown from Detroit, who works with

          6  me in all of our activities, sitting to her right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Welcome

          8  Marian.  I look forward to working with them.

          9                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: And, I am very

         10  proud to introduce you to Dr. Carol Patent, who has

         11  a degree in medicine and is a practicing attorney.

         12  We are delighted to have her.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Oh, welcome

         14  Doctor.

         15                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: And, the

         16  luckiest person on my staff chaperoning these ladies

         17  around is Mr. Fred Burton from Detroit, Michigan.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Fred is here?

         19    Oh, hi. And, as to the single men on the

         20  Committees, whoa Fred. Right?

         21                 Okay Congressman, I look forward to

         22  working with the women as we have a lot of work to

         23  do.  Thank you.

         24                 CONGRESSMAN CONYERS: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

          3  you very much Congressman.

          4                 (the following written testimony was

          5  read into the record.)

          6  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          7  CONGRESSMAN CONYERS

          8                 Resolution 547 supporting of Civic

          9  Participation and Rehabilitation Act of 2003. During

         10  the mid- 1980's the nation commenced a war on drugs

         11  that swept like a blight through urban American.

         12  After 20 years, the drugs remain, but millions have

         13  been removed to jails and prisons.  The

         14  unprecedented growth of the nation's prison

         15  population during the 1990's should be a signal of

         16  failed social and criminal justice policy.  Rather

         17  than cleansing neighborhoods of the drug trade, our

         18  national "war" on drugs has incarcerated a

         19  generation of young men and produced a stark urban

         20  landscape that is almost devoid of opportunity.  In

         21  the face of mounting evidence, the government has

         22  been slow to act in recognition of the failure of

         23  these policies.

         24                 Young African- American men have

         25  borne the brunt of the explosion in incarceration.
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          2  Although drug use and sales cut across racial and

          3  socioeconomic lines, law enforcement strategies have

          4  targeted street- level drug dealers and users from

          5  low- income, predominately minority, urban areas.

          6  As a result, the arrest rates per 100,000 for drug

          7  offenses are six time higher for blacks than for

          8  whites and by 1996, 82 percent of the increase in

          9  the number of black federal inmates was due to drug

         10  offenses.  At this rate, 28.5 percent of black men

         11  will be confined in  prison at least once during

         12  their lifetime, a figure six times that of white

         13  men. Similar disparities exist for Latinos and the

         14  poor in general.

         15                 The results of these draconian

         16  policies are literally coming home to roost, as over

         17  600,000 former prisoners per year are beginning to

         18  re- enter their communities.  After having paid

         19  their debt to society, these men and women seek to

         20  re integrate into their communities and rebuild

         21  their lives.  However, they are confronted with the

         22   "prison after imprisonment"- a plethora of

         23  seemingly endless obstacles and impediments, which

         24  stymie successful efforts to get back on their feet.

         25
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          2                 Like the freedmen facing the "black

          3  codes" after reconstruction, the social and criminal

          4  justice policy decisions generated by the war on

          5  drugs have resulted in massive collateral damages,

          6  negatively limiting critically important access to

          7  housing, employment, public benefits, education, and

          8  even political participation through voting.

          9                 As we entered the 21st century, over

         10  4.6 million Americans were barred from voting due to

         11  felony disenfranchisement laws.  Forty- eight states

         12  and D.C. Deny convicted felons the right to vote

         13  during their incarceration, with 32 states extending

         14  disenfranchisement through the period of parole and

         15  28 through the period of probation.

         16                 In 38 of the States and in D.C.,

         17  persons with felony convictions can file to have

         18  their voting rights restored or automatically have

         19  that right restored a some point after they are

         20  released from incarceration.  However, in 13 states,

         21  former felons who have completed their sentences can

         22  be disenfranchised for life, despite having

         23  completely paid their debt to society.  Eight of

         24  these states permanently disenfranchise all former

         25  felons, AL, FL, IO, KY, MS, NV, VA, WY and five
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          2  states permanently disenfranchise some, AZ, DE, MD,

          3  TN, WA.

          4                 It is difficult to discern any

          5  rehabilitative value in barriers to the restoration

          6  of voting rights upon release from incarceration, or

          7  while on probation or parole.  In fact, the practice

          8  of many states denying voting rights to former

          9  felons represents a vestige from a time when

         10  suffrage was denied to whole classes of our

         11  population based on race, gender, religion, national

         12  origin and property.

         13                 Over the past two centuries, these

         14  restrictions, along with post- Civil War exclusions

         15  such as the poll tax and literacy requirements, have

         16  been eliminated.  If you doubt the connection, a

         17  simple review of voting restoration regulations

         18  reveals troubling similarities to voting

         19  restrictions used after reconstruction, that is

         20  demonstration of literacy and sobriety.  It is long

         21  past time that these restrictions be relegated to

         22  unenlightened history.

         23                 Denial of suffrage to former felons

         24  is no small matter.  A recent study by the

         25  Sentencing Project reveals that one in 50 adults
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          2  have currently or permanently lost their voting

          3  rights as a result of a felony conviction.  This

          4  includes an estimated 1.4 million African American

          5  men, or 13 percent of the total population of black

          6  adult men, a rate seven times the national average.

          7  In fact, in six states that deny the vote to ex-

          8  offenders, one in four black men are permanently

          9  disenfranchised.  Hispanic citizens are also

         10  disproportionately disenfranchised.

         11                 In addition to diminishing the

         12  legitimacy of our democratic process, denying voting

         13  rights to ex- offenders is inconsistent with the

         14  goal of rehabilitation.  Instead of reintegrating

         15  such individuals into society, felony voting

         16  restrictions only serve to reaffirm their feelings

         17  of alienation and isolation.  As the National

         18  Advisory Commission on Criminal Justice Standards

         19  and Goals has concluded, "if correction is to

         20  reintegrate an offender into free society, the

         21  offender must retain all attributes of citizenship."

         22    The purpose of correctional facilities throughout

         23  our history has been to make an offender fit to re-

         24  enter society.  We should honor this conviction that

         25  once a felon has served his/her time, then he/she is
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          2  ready to be a functioning member of society.  Voting

          3  then must be allowed, as the most basic constitutive

          4  act of citizenship.

          5                 It is even more important for this

          6  legislation to pass when we look back at the 2000

          7  election in Florida.  In that election 400,000 ex-

          8  felons were denied the right to vote.  In an

          9  election where it came down to 537 voters, this is a

         10  decisive number.

         11                 Instead of contracting the voting

         12  pool we should be expanding it so that our elected

         13  officials can more accurately resemble the wishes of

         14  the people.  Our nation has slowly seen the

         15  enfranchisement of all of its citizens. Though it

         16  has been a slow process, we have always moved

         17  forward, giving more and more citizens the right to

         18  vote.  This bill is merely the next step in the

         19  expansion of the electorate.   And it is a step we

         20  must take.

         21                 Many states are beginning to take the

         22  lead on this issue.  Maryland, Connecticut, Delaware

         23  and New Mexico have all scaled back voting bans on

         24  ex- felons who have paid the price for their crimes

         25  and now want to participate in the democratic
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          2  process as citizens.  The growing roster of states

          3  which allow ex- felons to vote is encouraging.

          4  However, we must take the crucial step of passing

          5  legislation at the federal level to resolve numerous

          6  incongruities in voting restoration measures between

          7  the states. Your resolution will send the signal to

          8  both state and federal legislators about the

          9  importance of this issue.

         10                 By any measure, the Civic

         11  Participation and Rehabilitation Act is a modest

         12  proposal.  H.R. 259 constitutes a narrowly crafted

         13  effort to expand voting rights for ex- felons, while

         14  protecting state prerogatives to generally establish

         15  voting qualifications.  The legislation prohibits

         16  the denial of voting rights based on post-

         17  incarceration felon status for federal elections and

         18  allows enforcement through declaratory judgement

         19  actions.

         20                 Simply put, the Act would only apply

         21  to persons who have been released from prison and it

         22  would only apply to federal elections.  As such, our

         23  bill is fully consistent with constitutional

         24  requirements established by Supreme Court in a

         25  series of decisions upholding federal voting rights
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          2  laws.

          3                 It is important to note that former

          4  felons fortunate to reside in states with automatic

          5  restoration are often oblivious to the fact that

          6  they can vote and are rarely given this information

          7  upon release.  In the 13 permanent

          8  disenfranchisement states, former felons are not

          9  commonly informed about the procedures necessary to

         10  regain their right to vote and many incorrectly

         11  believe that they can never vote again.  Many of the

         12  procedures they must follow are not only tedious but

         13  extremely complex, incorporating a level of

         14  sophistication daunting for the literate and

         15  illiterate alike.

         16                 Because persons re- entering the

         17  community after incarceration face such technical

         18  and informational barriers to regaining the vote,

         19  even in states without permanent bans, the

         20  legislation further conditions the receipt of

         21  federal prison funds on the enactment of post-

         22  release voting rights education programs.

         23                 This legislation has been supported

         24  by a broad coalition of groups interested in voting

         25  and civil rights, including the NAACP, ACLU the
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          2  National Council of Churches, the National Urban

          3  League, the Human Rights Watch and the Lawyers

          4  Committee for Civil Rights, among many others.  By

          5  adding the vice of the New York City Council to this

          6  growing list of supporters, I hope that we can raise

          7  the public profile of this issue and hasten the

          8  passage of legislation.

          9                 People with criminal convictions who

         10  have paid their debt to society must not be punished

         11  into perpetuity through rigid roadblocks which deny

         12  them the basic attributes of citizenship. The United

         13  States unfortunately continues top stand alone among

         14  the major industrialized nations in permitting an

         15  entire category of citizens, former felons to be cut

         16  off from the democratic process.

         17                 At a time when our nation faces

         18  record low voter participation, this legislation

         19  represents an historic means of both expanding

         20  voting rights while helping to reintegrate former

         21  felons into our democratic society.  It is time that

         22  the United States restored these fundamental rights

         23  and join the community of nations in this regard.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Okay,

         25  we are going to call the next panel.  David Addams
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          2  from the New York Civil Liberties Union, Ludovic

          3  Blain from Demos, Juan Cartagena from Community

          4  Services Society.

          5                 Let me just remind the members of the

          6  panel that you will each have three minutes to make

          7  your presentation and we will begin with Mr. David

          8  Addams.

          9                 MR. ADDAMS: Thank you.  I am the

         10  Deputy Director of the New York Civil Liberties

         11  Union.  The NYCLU is the statewide affiliate of the

         12  American Civil Liberties Union, which has long been

         13  dedicated to the protection and enhancement of New

         14  Yorkers' civil rights and civil liberties as

         15  articulated in the Bill of Rights of the U.S.

         16  Constitution and the Constitution of the State of

         17  New York.

         18                 I present testimony today on behalf

         19  of the NYCLU, regarding a City Council Resolution

         20  that calls upon the New York State Legislature to

         21  pass Senate Bill 2093 which would restore the right

         22  to vote to parolees and also calls upon the United

         23  States Congress to pass House Resolution 5510, also

         24  known as the Civic Participation and Rehabilitation

         25  Act of 2002, which would secure the voting rights of
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          2  persons who have been released from incarceration.

          3                 The American Civil Liberties Union

          4  and its affiliates around the country strongly

          5  support these reforms, which are also supported by

          6  the entire civil rights and human rights community.

          7                 Voting rights constitute the keystone

          8  of our democracy.  A law that restricts the right to

          9  vote, including the voting rights of a parolee, who

         10  has been released upon serving a sentence, appears

         11  on its face to violate constitutional rights to

         12  participate fully, freely and equally in our

         13  constitutional democracy.

         14                 What's more, by withholding the right

         15  to vote from a parolee, the state imposes a

         16  continuing punitive sanction that appears intended

         17  to deny ex- offenders full and equal participation

         18  as citizens.

         19                 The resolution introduced by

         20  Councilman Perkins and his colleagues addresses one

         21  of the problems with these types of restrictions.

         22  Once an ex- felon has completed a period of

         23  incarceration and thus paid his or her debt to

         24  society, most Americans agree that voting rights

         25  should be restored and not permanently denied.

                                                            40

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 Furthermore, during the period of

          3  parole, the criminal justice system's goal is

          4  reintegration of ex- felons into society as good

          5  citizens.  Denial of voting rights defeats this

          6  objective and denies ex- felons one of the most

          7  significant stakes within civil society, the power

          8  to choose the creators and enforcers of the rules of

          9  that society.

         10                 While New York State is better than

         11  some in providing ex- felons the right to vote after

         12  parole, the impact of ex- felon disenfranchisement

         13  in the State of New York is racially discriminatory

         14  and can create irrational anomalies regarding the

         15  exercise of this right.

         16                 To give you just one example: A

         17  prisoner who is temporarily incarcerated in New York

         18  State for the violation of another state's laws has

         19  the right to vote by absentee ballot, such as we

         20  heard about Maine and Vermont; however, his or her

         21  cell mate, incarcerated for identical or similar

         22  crimes under New York State law, is denied the same

         23  right to vote.

         24                 The racial impact of felon

         25  disenfranchisement is even more irrational and
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          2  unfair.  According to a 1998 report by Human Rights

          3  Watch and the Sentencing Project, over six percent

          4  of African- American men in the State of New York

          5  are denied the right to vote compared to less than

          6  one percent of the adult population in the state.

          7  The disproportionate impact of such

          8  disenfranchisement laws also correlates with unequal

          9  treatment at all levels of the criminal justice

         10  system.

         11                 Recent debate about the Rockefeller

         12  Drug Laws has brought to the forefront the extent to

         13  which those laws are enforced disproportionately

         14  against minorities.  Specifically, studies show that

         15  while African- Americans constitute only about 13

         16  percent of drug users, they represent nationwide 38

         17  percent of those arrested, 59 percent of those

         18  convicted, and 74 percent of those incarcerated for

         19  drug offenses. In New York State, 94 percent of

         20  those incarcerated for drug offenses are African-

         21  Americans or Hispanic.  As African- Americans and

         22  Hispanic citizens are disproportionately the subject

         23  of the harsh provisions of the Rockefeller Drug

         24  Laws, so are they disproportionately excluded from

         25  the fundamental right to vote.
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          2                 In addition to the discrimination

          3  experienced individually by these potential voters,

          4  African- American communities and other

          5  disproportionately impacted communities, especially

          6  Hispanic, lose voting power due to the reduction in

          7  eligible voters.

          8                 The effect of this disempowerment is

          9  exacerbated by the reduced census count in those

         10  communities from which incarcerated felons are

         11  removed.  For the purpose of drawing electoral

         12  district lines, these felons are counted as members

         13  of communities far removed from their homes.  This

         14  results in empowering communities that do not

         15  represent their interests. Properly counting

         16  prisoners, as members of the communities from which

         17  they came, rather than as members of the communities

         18  in which they are incarcerated, would establish a

         19  more representative and less discriminatory

         20  legislative redistricting scheme.

         21                 It is time for the state legislature

         22  to amend the law regarding the voting rights of ex-

         23  offenders so that the law reflects fully the

         24  constitutional protection afforded the franchise.

         25  Senate bill 2093 introduced by Senator Thomas Duane,
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          2  represents an important step toward realizing this

          3  objective. Voting rights should be equally available

          4  to all citizens of this republic under uniform laws

          5  that are consistently and fairly administered.

          6  Council Member Perkins resolution addresses these

          7  fundamental issues by returning the franchise to

          8  parolees and in so doing moves us toward a more just

          9  society.

         10                 The New York Civil Liberty Union

         11  urges the City Council to adopt Resolution 547.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 MR. BLAIN:  I am Ludovic Blain.  I am

         14  Associate Director of the Democracy Program at

         15  Demos.  It is good to see many of you again.  Demos

         16  is a national policy and democracy and economic

         17  justice group.  I'm here to do three things.  One is

         18  to laud you for this resolution.  Two is to urge you

         19  to take other action in addition to the resolution.

         20  Three is to offer my support in doing so.

         21                 First, I just wanted to touch on one

         22  thing that Council Member Boyland asked.

         23  Gender-wise a felon breakdown is by far

         24  disproportionately men and particular men of color;

         25  however, women of color has the highest increasing
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          2  rate of incarceration. So felony disenfranchisement

          3  is not yet a women's issue in terms of the number of

          4  women who are disenfranchised. One, it will be soon

          5  and two, many of those women are somehow related to

          6  the men that are disenfranchised and so they are

          7  impacted by the disenfranchisement within their

          8  homes, within their buildings and within their

          9  communities.  So, that is something that impacts

         10  women across the board.

         11                 First, disenfranchisement denies the

         12  vote to about 4.65 million Americans.  That

         13  undermines American democracy.  The statutory and

         14  constitutional disenfranchisement of convicted

         15  felons is one of the largest exclusions of civic

         16  life in the United States.  Again, in the last

         17  presidential election 4.65 million U.S. Citizens

         18  were disenfranchised because of felony convictions.

         19                 That impacts New York City and New

         20  York State.  More than 131,000 New York State

         21  residents and citizens are disenfranchised due to

         22  the state law stripping voting rights from citizens

         23  who are either serving a prison sentence or on

         24  parole.  We don't have the statistics but we believe

         25  that due to the disproportionate numbers of felony
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          2  convictions, not just from New York City relative to

          3  the rest of the state, but actually in urban areas

          4  throughout the state, relative to suburban and rural

          5  areas. It robs the City and urban areas like New

          6  York City of political power within the state

          7  system.

          8                 Again, touching on another point that

          9  Council Member Boyland hit on, it's not just a

         10  question of state and federal money tied to census

         11  numbers that is shifted by people being counted

         12  where they are in prison versus where they are from.

         13    It's also a matter of legislative redistricting as

         14  he said.  So this is a matter I think obviously the

         15  Federal Government and the State Government need to

         16  take a look at, but it is the City Council that is

         17  going through redistricting process.  So you need to

         18  look at the impact of felony convictions on your

         19  redistricting process.  The numbers must be large

         20  enough to shift some of the lines, particularly if

         21  you think that there are specific communities that

         22  are disseminated by felony convictions and they are

         23  actually not neighborhoods.  They're probably small

         24  parts of neighborhoods that can absolutely impact

         25  the drawing of lines based on census numbers.      Many
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          2  of you can probably think of parts of your districts

          3  that are very likely to have huge numbers of

          4  citizens with felony convictions who are not there,

          5  who are somewhere else. So, that is something for

          6  the City Council to think about when it discuses the

          7  base and decides on its redistricting process.

          8                 That's one of the things that the

          9  City Council can do in addition to this important

         10  resolution.  Another thing the City Council needs to

         11  do is to take proactive action to target those folks

         12  who are actual eligible to vote under current state

         13  law.  All of you have campaigned, all of you have

         14  experienced people who thought that they were not

         15  eligible to vote because they were on probation or

         16  had finished their sentence or had been convicted of

         17  a misdemeanor or had a family member who had done

         18  that.  All of you have had that experience.

         19                 I've spoken to some Council Members

         20  who didn't know what the law was.  I've spoken to

         21  some Board of Elections members who didn't know what

         22  the law was.  I have spoken to some transitional

         23  service providers and other agencies that deal with

         24  a lot of ex- felons and they didn't know what the

         25  actual law was.  So, if they were trying to actually

                                                            47

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  tell an ex- felon about their eligibility, they

          3  would have told them the wrong information.

          4                 And, so the action step that the City

          5  Council can do, in addition to this resolution

          6  supporting legislation and other arenas is to take a

          7  proactive role in ensuring that City institutions

          8  like the Board of Elections, City jail and prison

          9  institutions and other institutions that overlap

         10  with populations of ex- felons, and communities

         11  where there are a lot of ex- felons, to have a

         12  proactive education process to ensure that everybody

         13  knows that they can vote unless they are in jail or

         14  on parole, everyone else can vote. Again, we all

         15  have had the experience of people thinking that they

         16  cannot vote.

         17                 And, just a reminder the

         18  disenfranchisement numbers that owe the state

         19  131,000 in New York state, those are the people who

         20  are legally disenfranchised because of the law.  The

         21  number of people who think that they can't vote

         22  because of a misinterpretation of the law is huge.

         23  That's a whole other piece that we need to deal with

         24  that I would urge the Council to take a look at.  We

         25  definitely offer to work together with you.
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          2                 Just two other pieces to keep in

          3  mind.  The U.S. Is alone amongst democratic

          4  societies in allowing permanent disenfranchisement.

          5  Denmark, France, Israel, Japan, Kenya, Norway, Peru,

          6  Sweden and Zimbabwe are like Maine and Vermont in

          7  allowing people in prison to vote.  In fact,

          8  yesterday, I was speaking to Registrars from Maine,

          9  who said that the way they let prisoners vote there

         10  is by absentee ballot.  It's private, there seems to

         11  be no problems with it and they have a functioning

         12  way. That one, to make sure that people are

         13  registered when they are in jail and two, they then

         14  are able to apply for an absentee ballot. They get

         15  the ballot and are able to return that.

         16                 So I'd urge us to really think

         17  through about how fundamental the right to vote is

         18  in this society and how actually it's not been and

         19  that we need to return to that. Public opinion

         20  supports that. Since my time is up I ask to have my

         21  whole testimony added and to ask people to look both

         22  at the public opinion piece in this, because we are

         23  definitely supportive in this and to look at the

         24  State Policy Activity in dozens of states, where

         25  good laws are being passed.
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          2                 So, your support of the good law here

          3  in New York State is just one of the places where

          4  people are doing good work. In fact today, the New

          5  Jersey State Legislature is having a hearing on a

          6  bill to allow people on probation to vote.  So today

          7  is a very good day for ex- felons and we hope both

          8  this bill and that bill passes.  Thank you.

          9                 MR. CARTAGENA: Good morning, Chairman

         10  Monserrate and good morning to the Council.

         11                 My name is Juan Cartagena and I am

         12  the General Counsel at the Community Service

         13  Society, an organization that has had about 150

         14  years of work here in New York advocating for the

         15  poor and strengthening New York city communities.

         16                 I have given you an extensive

         17  testimony and I have also attached to that to that a

         18  law suit, because a law suit because I am one of the

         19  lawyers of a team of lawyers who represents a number

         20  of people in a law suit that we presented to the

         21  Court yesterday called Hayden v. Pataki. In fact Mr.

         22  Hayden is with us in your audience today and my

         23  co-counsel Janay Nelson, Associate Counsel for the

         24  NAACP Legal Defense Fund, is also here if you have

         25  any questions about the law suit, which I will just
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          2  describe in a second. Both her and I will be more

          3  than happy to answer your questions.

          4            I'd like to go over four points, because I

          5  know time is passing.  One is history and it's

          6  fitting that I would talk about it because I

          7  represent an organization that has 150 years of

          8  history at work.  People forget that New York State

          9  started this whole policy of disfranchising people

         10  because they committed a crime, particularly they

         11  were called then "infamous crimes" and now we call

         12  felonies.  But it started in the 1800's at a time

         13  when blatant official discrimination by the State of

         14  New York against African- Americans was commonplace.

         15    It was part of the laws of our books.  First only

         16  freed men and property holders were allowed to vote

         17  in New York State.  When more freed men started

         18  reaching the shores of New York City, new property

         19  requirements, higher ones were applied only to men

         20  of color, not whites.  When infamous crimes was

         21  inserted in the Constitution, debates of 1846, those

         22  people who deliberated that provision recognized

         23  that blacks were 13 times more likely to commit an

         24  infamous crime than whites, and they passed it

         25  because of that disparity.
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          2                 After the 15th amendment to the

          3  United States Constitution finally guaranteed the

          4  right and the promise of vote to all emancipated

          5  slaves and voided a number of state laws because of

          6  that.  New York State did what all the other states

          7  in the South did, they reinserted "infamous crimes"

          8  as a disqualification for voting.

          9                 So history tells us and I could talk

         10  about history forever, because I love it and we know

         11  that our history doesn't stop in the 1800's when it

         12  comes to discrimination in voting. Literacy tests

         13  throughout the 20th Century.  English- only rules

         14  and procedures, discriminatory purge laws, every ten

         15  years our communities have to battle to get fair

         16  redistricting plans.

         17                 Black and Latino communities in the

         18  City of New York    know fully well the history

         19  hasn't stopped.  There the ones with the faulty

         20  machines, inadequate polling assistance,

         21  disappearing legislation.  All that means to say

         22  that we are now looking at a class of people that

         23  have yet to achieve that entry into our democracy,

         24  That is a class of people of people convicted of a

         25  crime, particularly a felony in the State of New
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          2  York. We stand with them at the Community Service

          3  Society but we also stand with communities that

          4  whose voting strength is diluted.  We think it's

          5  also a violation of voting rights of a neighbor, the

          6  family member, the aunt, the uncle who lives in

          7  Bedsford-Stuyvesant or East Harlem or Jamaica.

          8  Their collective voting strength is swabbed when

          9  policies take away substantial numbers of the votes

         10  from these communities.

         11                 So let's talk about East Harlem,

         12  Washington Heights, the Lower East Side, Hunts

         13  Point, Morrisania, Soundview, all of Central

         14  Brooklyn virtually, East New York, Jamaica and St.

         15  Albans make up about 80 percent of the people who

         16  get sent upstate to prison.  Those votes are taken

         17  away from them. Their strength is also compromised

         18  and actually diluted.

         19                 These will be issues that we raise in

         20  the Case called Hayden v. Pataki that we filed

         21  yesterday on the birthday of Doctor Martin Luther

         22  King, Jr.  It is pending in Federal Court.  It is

         23  attached to my testimony  because I hope it will

         24  also be part of this. There is a number of

         25  statistics there that we use, to bolster our
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          2  arguments and I will be happy to share more

          3  information with you as time goes on.

          4                 What your resolution does today is

          5  excellent work and we applaud you, commend you for

          6  even considering, given in fact what we are talking

          7  about dividing a vote for people who are marginalia.

          8  The most marginalia segment of our society.  We

          9  think it's excellent.  But, we think it can also go

         10  further.  We question the premises whether anyone

         11  should be denied their Constitutional rights to vote

         12  just because they're incarcerated.

         13                 You heard about Vermont and Maine,

         14  and Canada to our north, which allows incarcerated

         15  felons to vote. Puerto Rico does it as well. Puerto

         16  Rico has one of the highest turnout rates of any

         17  democracy in the whole Western hemisphere.  About 80

         18  percent come out to vote every election day. It's a

         19  combination of a number of factors, not least of

         20  which the fact, that everyone can vote who is

         21  qualified.

         22                 So we need the Council to also

         23  consider going further.  So let me close by saying

         24  if the United States incarcerates more people per

         25  capita than any country in the world, six hundred

                                                            54

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  eighty six out of one hundred thousand people.  We

          3  are putting records number of people in jail, in

          4  prison, excuse me, in numbers never historically

          5  seen by the United States.

          6                 By the way, New York,

          7  parenthetically, if it was ranked separately as a

          8  country, will be fifth in the world, in terms of

          9  number of people put behind bars.  Five hundred

         10  seventy four out of every one hundred thousand

         11  people get put in prison.

         12                 It's also the home of the most

         13  punitive drug laws in the country.  So, we now have

         14  to start questioning the wisdom of our drug policies

         15  and our prison policies and start with those very

         16  communities that I itemized before.  So, we can

         17  start off by hearing the voices of people behind

         18  bars among these communities. What are they asking?

         19  They are asking, what is America afraid of? Why was

         20  our voice taken away?  They want to express

         21  themselves through the ballot box and at the

         22  Community Service Society, along with the NAACP

         23  Defense Fund, the center for laws and justice, we

         24  want to hear them. We are hearing them and we urge

         25  you to also. Thank you very much.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

          3  you.  May I just say thank you all for your hard

          4  work and advocacy on this very important issue.  The

          5  three of you represent very important factors to our

          6  society, continuing to advocate.

          7                 Mr. Cartagena I have a couple of

          8  questions.  Is this the first lawsuit of its kind in

          9  New York?

         10                 MR. CARTAGENA:  Councilman if you

         11  don't mind, Janay can you join me at the table so we

         12  can answer these answers very quickly for you.

         13                 For the record this is Janay Nelson,

         14  Associate Counsel with the NAACP Legal Defense Fund

         15  and she is co-counsel on the case called Hayden v.

         16  Pataki.

         17                 No, there have been previous

         18  attempts, there are pending cases right now in

         19  Florida, in Washington State, Virginia has just

         20  filed a case recently, there were previous cases and

         21  Ms. Nelson can tell you in one word a case their

         22  office filed in Alabama.

         23                 MS. NELSON: The Legal Defense Fund

         24  worked on a case in Alabama back in the 80's, where

         25  we were victorious in dismantling the laws there
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          2  that actually precluded people who were convicted of

          3  crimes of moral turpitude.  A similar language to

          4  what we have seen in the New York statues that says

          5  any infamous crimes.  Crimes of moral turpitude have

          6  the same desperate impact on people of color in

          7  Alabama as the laws in New York State  do here.  And

          8  we challenged that law and were successful in

          9  getting that law off the books and we hope to have

         10  the same victory in New York State.

         11                 MR. CARTAGENA:  There was also a

         12  successful case in Pennsylvania in 2000, where a

         13  State Court overturned their disenfranchisement law,

         14  so now if you are in prison you're not able to vote,

         15  otherwise you are eligible to vote, so there has

         16  been a lot of success.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Were

         18  these cases in U.S. District Court?  Both cases?

         19                 MS. NELSON: Federal Court.

         20                 MR. CARTAGENA: Yes both, except for

         21  the one in Pennsylvania.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That

         23  was a State Court.  So there is some case precedent

         24  already.

         25                 MR. CARTAGENA: Yes, there are some
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          2  victories to hang our hat on. And, there have been

          3  some lower Court loses too.  The case in Florida was

          4  not successful at the District Court level.  It is

          5  now on appeal.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: But,

          7  the Alabama case was successful.

          8                 MR. CARTAGENA: Yes.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And

         10  did the State appeal that case?

         11                 MS. NELSON: No. We were successful in

         12  creating that very limited provision being written

         13  off the books.  There are still discriminatory

         14  aspects of Alabama's disfranchisement laws, but that

         15  particular aspect of it was taken off the books.

         16                 MR. CARTAGENA: Well, what we allege

         17  in the Hayden case and has been in part alleged in

         18  the other cases as well that are pending today, is a

         19  twist on a very important issue.  And, that is that

         20  today the way criminal justice system works in New

         21  York State, not everyone's convicted of the same

         22  crime in New York State gets to go to jail.

         23                 There is a high likelihood that a

         24  white convict of a felony that you will be sent to

         25  probation and therefore you are allowed to vote.
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          2  It's more likely if you are black, Latino to be

          3  incarcerated for the same type of felony conviction.

          4

          5                 When you superimpose the criminal

          6  justice systems of consequences on the fact that the

          7  voting procedures are not open to all, you have what

          8  we have today, and that is what we are urging the

          9  Court to consider.  And, by the way should we be

         10  victorious and should you, at the legislative arena

         11  be victorious in restoring rights to this class of

         12  people, the benefits will bound to everyone, white,

         13  blacks, Latinos alike.  That's clear. Right?  But,

         14  what we're saying what course to consider is that

         15  the discriminatory effects of the way the system

         16  operates today result in a disproportionate of

         17  blacks and Latinos being disenfranchised, and that

         18  is a violation of law.

         19                 MS. NELSON:  Might I add that one of

         20  the key reasons why it's in your interest in

         21  particular to push for the rights of prisoners to

         22  vote, is that under New York law you do not lose

         23  your place of residence, you do not lose your

         24  domicile because you are incarcerated.  So, the

         25  blacks and Latinos and other members of communities
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          2  who are taken from New York City and incarcerated up

          3  state, if they get their right to vote that vote

          4  will be counted down- state in New York City.  And,

          5  that is very crucial to the issues that we face in

          6  the City and the changes we like to see made.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay,

          8  I just want to ask Mr. Addams from the NYCLU or the

          9  ACU.

         10                 MR. ADDAMS: The NYCLU, which is a

         11  part of the ACU.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Do you

         13  have anything to add about what Mr. Cartagena said

         14  about the legal aspects?  The likelihood of this

         15  succeeding in the District Court?

         16                 MR. ADDAMS: I have nothing to add.

         17  Mr. Cartagena and I were discussing a case earlier

         18  that the Civil Liberties Union was involved in,

         19  which resulted in a split decision and effectively

         20  no decision, so it was not a negative decision, but

         21  it was also not an affirmative decision in this

         22  matter.  That was Baker v. Pataki, I think a couple

         23  of years back.  So, in many ways in New York State

         24  the ground is still open for the kind of lawsuit

         25  that they have filed and for other challenges to the
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          2  denial of voting rights.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Well,

          4  I would ask you both to please keep this Committee

          5  posted as to developments of the case and ultimately

          6  if and when it goes to trial.  Keep us abreast and I

          7  thank you again for your testimony.

          8                 Does anyone from the Committee have

          9  any questions?

         10                 Council Member Perkins?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I have a

         12  question.  I wanted to hear from all or any, what

         13  Congressman Conyers' success of his efforts will

         14  mean for the efforts that you are pursuing on the

         15  State level?

         16                 MR. BLAIN: Well actually he left out

         17  one of the Senate sponsors of the bill and as you

         18  can imagine it was an extremely political attempt,

         19  so it's difficult to find out exactly what happened,

         20  but there was a Senate vote last year in 2002 to

         21  attach his bill to the Help America Vote act, which

         22  we will be working with you all on separately.

         23                 It may very well be that some of the

         24  votes for the amendment was in order to make the

         25  Help America Vote act fail eventually.  So, that may
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          2  very well be the case, but there were 33 votes,

          3  bipartisan votes, for the amendment.  It did fail,

          4  but 33 votes in the Senate is actually pretty good.

          5  It was an amendment that was sponsored by two

          6  people, a Democrat Harry Reid and a Republican Arlen

          7  Specter from Pennsylvania, both of whom were

          8  prosecutors. So you actually find across the country

          9  that many prosecutors are coming around to realize

         10  that reinfranchisement at least post- incarceration

         11  reinfranchisement dove- tails very well with their

         12  tough on crime anti- recidivism rhetoric and

         13  regardless whether people support that rhetoric or

         14  not that constituency is the law enforcement

         15  constituency has generally been opposed to

         16  reinfranchisement.

         17                 So, I think with these two very high

         18  profile former prosecutors endorsing the legislation

         19  in terms of doing it as an amendment, with really no

         20  advocacy pressure whatsoever, I think that portends

         21  well for some long- term piece.

         22                 At the same time, the fact is that

         23  state laws will change before the Federal law will

         24  and a portion of state laws changing will require

         25  City officials to register more of the people who
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          2  are actually eligible.

          3                 So, just as I think, people saw the

          4  failure of the reform of the Rockefeller Drug Laws.

          5  Many people feel one of the reasons why that didn't

          6  happen is because many of those folks actually can't

          7  vote.  So, then its not a powerful political

          8  constituency, so I think although the Federal law

          9  will eventually happen and hopefully will go into

         10  step with almost all of the other Democratic

         11  countries in the world, state laws will change

         12  before the Federal law, and yet again before the

         13  state laws change, City laws change.  City Counsels

         14  and Mayors will have to take action to push their

         15  state legislators.

         16                 MR. CARTAGENA: May I just say, if the

         17  Federal law were to change, in this case Conyers'

         18  bill were to be passed, we must recognize it is

         19  limited to only Federal elections.  Because Congress

         20  by Constitution can only regulate the count of the

         21  Federal elections.  That is a matter of law.  But,

         22  as a matter of practice, virtually every state falls

         23  in step and starts to consider state law to mirror

         24  the federal requirements.

         25                 Should this Federal law, in this case
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          2  Conyers' bill pass, it will be incumbent upon

          3  Albany, the legislature to pass a bill to mirror it,

          4  and perhaps even go beyond it.  It is well within

          5  its right to go beyond it.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

          7  you.

          8                 MR. BLAIN: And we do hope that when

          9  states implement the Help America Vote Act that they

         10  review their disenfranchisement laws and consider

         11  repealing the disenfranchisement laws as a part of

         12  the implementation.  So, we hope that whatever

         13  impact you have in terms of who gets picked for the

         14  state Planning Implementation Committee that some of

         15  those nominees are people who have this as one of

         16  their core concerns because as we are fixing

         17  democracy, it is clearly not just an issue of the

         18  list and the machines, it is also really who gets to

         19  vote and who gets to run, and this goes to the core

         20  of who gets to vote.

         21                 So, we hope that you play a role in

         22  ensuring that the state Planning Committee for the

         23  Federal Help America Vote Act includes this as one

         24  of the concerns.  Perhaps that is something that you

         25  all might push forth somehow through the state
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          2  legislature.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

          4  you.  I have one other question.  As you know we

          5  will be having hearings on the Federal Voter Act

          6  that was just passed.  But I want to ask one

          7  question with regard to the litigation that was

          8  filed yesterday?

          9                 I want to congratulate you first for

         10  doing what I think it is very, very important.  I

         11  want to get some technical appreciation of what that

         12  litigation is, in terms of it's substance and in

         13  terms of its process.  How it is going to move and

         14  how is it being considered?

         15                 MS.NELSON: Certainly.  Well, let me

         16  note that the case was originally filed, as Juan

         17  mentioned earlier, by Mr. Hayden at a time when he

         18  was incarcerated.  He is now currently on parole and

         19  cannot vote, but he filed this law suit back in

         20  September 2001. Very little has happened with the

         21  lawsuit since.

         22                 The Civil Rights Organizations that

         23  Juan mentioned, the Legal Defense Fund, CSS and The

         24  Center for Law and Social Justice at Medgar Evers

         25  College have taken on this issue and are pursuing
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          2  it.  We filed a greatly expanded Complaint yesterday

          3  in the Court.

          4                 What we expect to happen at this

          5  point is to move forward to litigate the case, go

          6  through the Discovery phase and ultimately bring it

          7  to trial.  Obviously in the interim we will likely

          8  get opposition from the defendants that we sued,

          9  which is Governor Pataki and also the Chairperson of

         10  the State Board of Elections, Carol Burman.  We may

         11  receive motions to dismiss, there may be other

         12  challenges to try to get the lawsuit out of the

         13  court, but we intend to fight those vigorously and

         14  we expect the case to run along the normal course of

         15  any litigation.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Why

         17  would the Chairwoman of the State Board of Elections

         18  Carol Berman disapprove?  I can understand perhaps

         19  why the Governor -- As I understand it, the State

         20  Board of Elections is Democrat and Republican and

         21  Berman, I believe is the Democratic side.  Why would

         22  she disapprove?

         23                 MR. CARTAGENA: Well, we won't know

         24  until we read her answer to our amended Complaint.

         25  But, it would not surprise us if an official of the
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          2  state government were to simply say, well the law in

          3  the State of New York does not allow what you seek,

          4  and I must follow that law until otherwise ordered.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I see.

          6                 MR. CARTAGENA: But, you raise a very

          7  important point. That is, why would anyone,

          8  considering the fairness of it all, considering the

          9  fact that these policies serve no legitimate penal

         10  interest, no interest from a prison policy

         11  perspective as to disallow these policies.  In fact

         12  one could think it's a rehabilitative act.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: The

         14  time frame is what I am trying to get a sense of as

         15  well.  So you filed yesterday.  There will be

         16  discovery and responses -- what is the time frame

         17  that you see for that taking place and ultimately

         18  something happening, one way or the other.

         19                 MS. NELSON: Well, as Civil Rights

         20  attorneys here at this table, we know that these

         21  types of cases can go on for years. We hope that we

         22  will have a quicker resolution to this case, given

         23  that there are upcoming elections and we hope that

         24  people in prison and on parole do not lose the

         25  opportunity to vote in these future elections.
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          2  However, we are very mindful of the fact that these

          3  sort of challenges often take quite a bit of time to

          4  resolve.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Is there any

          6  support from the State legislators, leaders or

          7  members of the Assembly or the Senate?

          8                 MR. CARTAGENA: Oh yes.  On the issue

          9  yes.

         10                 On the lawsuit, now that it is before

         11  the Federal Courts, we are now free to share it, as

         12  we did with you today.  We are free to share with

         13  the members of the entire legislation to see how

         14  they can support it, of course.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         16                 We will call the next panel Jamie

         17  Fellner, Human Rights Watch, Eddie Ellis from the

         18  Community Justice Center and Joseph Hayden.  You are

         19  going to be first Mr. Hayden, so whenever you are

         20  ready.

         21                 MR. HAYDEN: Thank you.  Well let me

         22  begin by thanking everybody for this great

         23  opportunity for me to be here. I don't know too much

         24  about the protocol of this place, even though I was

         25  born and raised in Harlem.  This is the first time I
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          2  have ever been in City Hall.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:

          4  Welcome to City Hall. Your City Hall.

          5                 MR. HAYDEN: Okay. Thank you.  For the

          6  last year I have been free and I have been doing the

          7  conference circuit and moving around the country

          8  speaking on this issue.  Often I find that the

          9  voices of those that are most impacted by these

         10  laws, these disenfranchisement statues, are seldom

         11  heard and therefore I look on this as a good

         12  opportunity to speak to people that are in a

         13  position to do something about it.

         14                 I read the Resolution and I applaud

         15  it and support it and I am speaking as a prisoner, a

         16  former prisoner, a person or the people who are most

         17  impacted by this felon disenfranchisement statues.

         18                 Ten years ago I began to investigate

         19  this issue along with other prisoners who were

         20  conscious and politically knowledgeable and

         21  concerned and we discovered after years of research

         22  and brainstorming that prisoners were subject to a

         23  lot of negative legislation because they were

         24  voiceless, lacking a political voice.

         25                 As a results of that we began to put
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          2  together these lawsuits challenging the felon

          3  disenfranchisements statutes.  When we look at the

          4  record of this kind of legislation you will see that

          5  most of it was generated originally by prisoners.

          6                 What prisoners want, is not

          7  consistent with what this Resolution has put forth

          8  here. Prisoners want the total nullification of

          9  these statues.  I heard Councilman Barron refer to

         10  earlier, why couldn't this be?  It would be for me

         11  like trying to reform slavery.  Those that advocate

         12  abolition of slavery, obviously wouldn't have

         13  accepted that position.  And, from the point of view

         14  of prisoners that's not the finish line for us.  The

         15  finish line for us is total nullification of these

         16  statues.

         17                 Now, we also realized that the

         18  journey of one thousand dollars begins with a single

         19  step.  And this is a positive step in that

         20  direction.  But what I want to impress on the

         21  Council more than anything else, is the need to

         22  understand that is not the finish line, it's only

         23  the beginning.

         24            Obviously, these laws never should have

         25  been put in place in the first place, in that they
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          2  have outlived their existence, there reason for

          3  existence, whatever that may have been in the

          4  distant past. There is certainly no valid

          5  justification for them existing today, specifically

          6  because of the way that they impact

          7  disproportionately certain groups.

          8                 The impact on African- Americans and

          9  Latinos in New York City, in New York State and the

         10  direct results of legislation that's passed, that's

         11  targeted at specific groups.  Legislation that

         12  couldn't stand a racial impact statement if there

         13  was such a thing in New York State.

         14                 In operation of the Police

         15  Departments, in the Criminal Justice System, the

         16  results that these two entities produce is what

         17  triggers these felons disenfranchisement statues and

         18  determines who is going to be disenfranchised.

         19                 So, this can't be repaired, unless

         20  you look at the underlying causes, which is criminal

         21  justice legislation, police policies and practices

         22  and outcomes of the criminal justice system in the

         23  courts.  We can't address all those issues, but we

         24  can remove these statues or merely irate them as you

         25  are trying to do.
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          2                 To have the City Council take this

          3  position and put forth this Resolution is probably

          4   -- the words not's really out yet, but once it hits

          5  the prisons and it will hit the prisons because

          6  Eddie Ellison and myself produce a regular program.

          7  We are going to see that the word gets back inside

          8  those prisons.  I mean it's going to be well

          9  appreciated.  And, I want to thank you very much for

         10  this Resolution.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         12  you very much Mr. Hayden.  The next panelist please.

         13                 MR. ELLIS: Thank you very much.  My

         14  name is Eddie Ellis and I would just like to add my

         15  voice to Joseph Hayden's voice on thanking this City

         16  Council Committee for allowing us the opportunity to

         17  come and speak.  I am the President of an

         18  organization called Community Justice Center, which

         19  is a Criminal Justice Advocacy organization in

         20  Harlem, in Councilman Perkins' district.  In

         21  addition to that I am a criminal justice consultant

         22  for the Open Society Institute of the Sorrels

         23  Foundations.  I serve in a similar consulting

         24  capacity for the New York State Black, Puerto Rican

         25  and Hispanic Legislative Caucus.  In addition to
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          2  that, I am a person who was formerly incarcerated

          3  for over 25 years.  I have been out now,

          4  approximately 11 years.  And, as a result of my

          5  incarceration and parol status, I fall into the

          6  class of people who are prohibited from voting as a

          7  result of having a felony conviction.

          8                 Along with Mr. Hayden, I applaud both

          9  the Federal Legislation that Congressman Conyers has

         10  put forth and the Resolution that has come from this

         11  Committee and from Council Member Perkins.  But, I

         12  do sincerely and honestly believe that neither the

         13  Resolution nor Congressman Conyers' bill goes quite

         14  far enough.

         15                 I just wanted to go on record as

         16  stating the reasons why people who were already

         17  incarcerated believe as we do, that no law should be

         18  passed that bars people from voting.  We believe

         19  that in a participatory democracy citizenship is

         20  fundamental toward a participatory democracy in that

         21  the bedrock of citizenship is the right to vote. And

         22  that, unless and until a felony conviction becomes a

         23  bar to citizenship, it should not also be a bar to

         24  voting in that without the franchise, without the

         25  right to vote all persons cannot truly in effect be
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          2  considered a citizen of any country.

          3                 We go further, we say that people who

          4  are paroled, especially, are required to maintain

          5  employment, are required to live a law abiding life

          6  and be part of the civic life of the community in

          7  that it is possible to have full participation in

          8  civic life of a community, with also having the

          9  right to chose representatives of that community,

         10  which of course entails voting.

         11                 Finally, we think that people who are

         12  required to pay taxes can never be disallowed the

         13  right to vote.  In fact, the United States of

         14  America's initial beef on which the foundation of

         15  the United States of American was founded, is the

         16  idea that there should not be taxation without

         17  representation.

         18                 So while people who have felony

         19  convictions have been barred from voting, they have

         20  not been disallowed from paying taxes.  We believe

         21  that the laws of the State of New York and the

         22  country that disallow voting for people who have

         23  felony convictions, are both unconstitutional and

         24  fly in the face of participatory democracy.

         25                 We think that the Council, that the
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          2  State Legislature and that the Congress of the

          3  United States should move as fast they can to

          4  eliminate all bars to voting for people who have

          5  been convicted.  As it has been mentioned numerous

          6  times this morning, there is ample precedent for

          7  that vote already in two states here in the United

          8  States, where people who are convicted and who are

          9  in prison are allowed the right to vote.

         10                 And, most recently in the country of

         11  Canada to the North, the Supreme Court Justice

         12  recently ruled, as was mentioned, that people in

         13  prison can still have the right to vote.  So we

         14  think that the precedents that have been set are in

         15  two states here in the United States and Canada, as

         16  well as most of Western Europe, supply a good body

         17  of evidence that the franchise to even execute it

         18  while in prison, certainly is fundamental to the way

         19  in which a democracy operates and allows for the

         20  fullest participation of all its members.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 Ms. Jamie Fellner, next please?

         25                 MS. FELLNER: I am delighted to be
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          2  here on behalf of Human Rights Watch, to urge you to

          3  pass the Resolution before you. Coming as the last

          4  panel member I guess, I almost feel like saying you

          5  have the report we did in 1998, which lays out the

          6  history, the impact as of 1998, the figures have

          7  since changed somewhat. The arguments for and

          8  against the constitutionality and everything so

          9  maybe I should just take questions.

         10                 But, I want to second the views that

         11  have just been expressed that there is no basis for

         12  depriving people while they are incarcerated of the

         13  right to vote and that the Council should consider

         14  the reasons why that exists today and consider as

         15  you have been urged to do so to move beyond that.

         16                 Most countries in the world, most

         17  democratic countries permit even inmates to vote,

         18  which is something you were not aware of.  The

         19  countries are listed here.

         20                 I want to emphasize that there are

         21  currently somewhere between 45 and 57 thousand

         22  people on parole.  I have looked up and kept getting

         23  different numbers.  Like other New York residents

         24  these men and women work, pay taxes, have families

         25  and live in communities governed by local State and
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          2  Federal laws. Their lives, as well as the lives of

          3  their families, friends and neighbors are affected

          4  by what elected officials do and do not do. They

          5  have as much a stake as anyone in who's elected and

          6  what programs they support.  As citizens in a

          7  democracy they should be able to help choose who

          8  those officials will be.

          9                 And, I was struck, as I was sitting

         10  here and looked up over your head, you may forget

         11  the words that are overhead, "a government of the

         12  people, by the people and for the people" and there

         13  is no parenthesis excepting felons in that

         14  statement.

         15                 We should remember that the right to

         16  vote lies at the heart of American democracy.

         17  Indeed the extension of suffrage to all sectors of

         18  the population is one of the countries most

         19  important political triumphs, yet while property,

         20  gender, race, education and other restrictions on

         21  voting have been progressively eliminated, one

         22  restriction remains, perhaps the most irrational of

         23  all.  The ban based on criminal convictions.  These

         24  disenfranchisement laws serve no purpose.  Barring

         25  parolees from voting does not strengthen respect for
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          2  the law or strengthen communities. Indeed the law

          3  creates a barrier to successful reentry, weakening,

          4  rather than building connections between the

          5  reentering individual and his or her community and

          6  state.

          7                 New York should be encouraging all

          8  it's citizens, including parolees to participate in

          9  civil society and shoulder their responsibilities,

         10  including participation in elections.

         11                 I want to remind you as has been said

         12  before that voting is a right, not a privilege.

         13  It's also a human right and you as elected public

         14  officials are bound, you may not be aware that you

         15  are not only bound to honor and enforce and promote

         16  the laws of the City and the State, but you also

         17  have human rights obligations to promote rights that

         18  are affirmed in international treaties to which the

         19  United States is a party, and that includes the

         20  right to vote.  That right should only be restricted

         21  to the extent necessary to further an important

         22  state interest, such a restriction should be

         23  proportional to the need and narrowly tailored to

         24  further that need.  We fail to find how denying the

         25  vote to parolees furthers any legitimate state
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          2  interest, indeed it contradicts them, much less the

          3  narrowly tailored to further that.

          4                 We calculate, as we said before, that

          5  in New York 6.2 percent of black men cannot vote.

          6  That includes people in prison, as well as on

          7  parole.  The racial impact has been noted before.

          8  We discuss it at great lengths in our report.  It is

          9  appalling and needs to be changed.

         10                 I also should point out, I don't know

         11  if you are aware of this, but in New York State 82

         12  percent of parolees are either Black or Hispanic.

         13  And, of course the prison population is notably

         14  Black and Hispanic.  I will leave off there, just

         15  given to the interest of time, as most of the

         16  important points have been made numerous times.  I

         17  think there is a consensus by everybody that has

         18  spoken today.  I don't know if that reflects whose

         19  chosen to speak or the broader public consensus.  I

         20  would like to think it was the later.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         22  you very much.

         23                 (The following written testimony was

         24  read into the record.)

         25
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          2  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          3  BRENNAN CENTER FOR JUSTICE

          4

          5                 The Brennan Center for Justice at New

          6  York University School of Law is honored to be

          7  invited to testify before this Committee in support

          8  of Resolution 547, calling upon the New York State

          9  Legislature to pass S. 2039, to restore the right to

         10  vote to parolees, and also calling upon the United

         11  States Congress to pass H.R. 5510, the Civic

         12  Participation and Rehabilitation Act of 2002, to

         13  secure the federal voting rights of persons who have

         14  been released from incarceration.

         15                 The Brennan Center is a nonprofit,

         16  nonpartisan, institute that promotes full and equal

         17  participation in our democracy and fairness in our

         18  criminal justice system.  The Center works to

         19  advance this goal through, among other efforts,

         20  advocacy to end deprivations of voting rights and

         21  racial distortions in the electorate created by

         22  disenfranchisement of persons with felony

         23  convictions.

         24                 Currently, the Center is lead counsel

         25  in Johnson v. Bush, representing a class of more
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          2  than 600,000 ex- felons challenging the state of

          3  Florida's law permanently disenfranchising them.

          4  The case was filed in Federal Court in Miami in

          5  September 2000 and is now on appeal to the United

          6  States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh circuit.

          7                 The Center was also lead counsel in

          8  NAACP Philadelphia Branch v. Ridge, challenging as

          9  unconstitutional a Pennsylvania law that bars ex-

         10  felons from registering to vote for five years after

         11  leaving prison.  The Center's theory in the case was

         12  ultimately adopted by a state intermediate court in

         13  an unrelated action, resulting in the invalidation

         14  of the law.              Previously the Center

         15  testified before the U.S. Congress concerning a

         16  predecessor of the federal bill at issue here, HR

         17  906, the Civic Participation and Rehabilitation Act

         18  of 1999.  The Center's analysis showed that Congress

         19  has the authority to enact such a measure based on

         20  the U.S. Constitution's Elections Clause, combined

         21  with Congress' broad power over federal elections

         22  and its enforcement powers under the Fourteenth and

         23  Fifteenth Amendments.

         24                 In addition, the Center is part of a

         25  coalition of eight national organizations that are
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          2  working together to implement a jointly developed

          3  strategic plan to end felon disenfranchisement.

          4  Along with the Brennan Center, that coalition

          5  includes the American Civil Liberties Union

          6  Foundation, Demos, the NAACP Legal Defense and

          7  Educational Fund, the People for the American Way

          8  Foundation, the Mexican American Legal Defense and

          9  Educational Fund, the NAACP and the Sentencing

         10  Project.

         11                 The continued exclusion from voting

         12  of a rapidly growing segment of our population is

         13  unjust and incompatible with our nation's democratic

         14  principles.  More than 4.7 million citizens are

         15  unable to vote in either federal or state elections

         16  because of a felony conviction.  In 12 states,

         17  felons can lose their right to vote for life.  In

         18  most other states, those in prison, on probation,

         19  and on parole are denied the vote.  Here in New

         20  York, those incarcerated and on parole are denied

         21  voting rights.

         22                 Some contend that by committing a

         23  crime a convicted felon has forfeited the privilege

         24  of full participation in society. But this argument

         25  ignores the discretionary and racially skewed
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          2  operation of our criminal justice system.  The "War

          3  on Drugs" has led to exponential growth in the

          4  nation's prison population with the harshest effects

          5  felt in minority communities.  This and other

          6  aggressive criminal justice policies interact with

          7  felon disenfranchisement laws to disenfranchise

          8  disproportionate numbers of African Americans (often

          9  for nonviolent drug offenses).  Of the 4.7 million

         10  Americans who have lost their voting rights due to

         11  felony convictions, 1.8 million are African-

         12  Americans.  Nationwide, African- Americans are

         13  nearly five times more likely to be disenfranchised

         14  than other Americans.  These laws also have a

         15  disparate impact on Latinos, but the full extent of

         16  that impact cannot be calculated because of the lack

         17  of adequate data.

         18                 Felon disenfranchisement is also

         19  inconsistent with the democratic principle that

         20  voting is a right of citizenship, not a privilege to

         21  be meted out to the deserving.  The most

         22  antidemocratic aspect of felon disenfranchisement

         23  laws is their drain on votes in already under-

         24  represented communities. Notwithstanding their

         25  facially neutral terms, felon disenfranchisement
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          2  laws operate with racially discriminatory results.

          3                 New York's felon disenfranchisement

          4  scheme is even more racially skewed than the

          5  national average.  Of the 131,000 New Yorkers who

          6  cannot vote due to felony convictions, over 84,000

          7  of them are African- American.  More than 57,000 New

          8  York citizens who live and work in the community as

          9  parolees are disenfranchised; nearly 44,000 of them

         10  are African- American.  Black New Yorkers have a

         11  total disenfranchisement rate of 3.7 percent,

         12  compared with only about .4 percent for others, and

         13  though blacks make up only 17 percent of New York's

         14  voting age population, they are 64 percent of those

         15  disenfranchised by the challenged statue.  Thus, in

         16  New York, African- Americans are nine times more

         17  likely than whites to be stripped of their voting

         18  rights.  The immediate source of this disparate

         19  racial impact is clear; the disproportionate rate at

         20  which New York incarcerates African- Americans.

         21                 Disenfranchised individuals have lost

         22  a critical means of re- engagement in civic life.

         23  Meanwhile their communities lose political

         24  representation and find that elected officials are

         25  less responsive to their concerns.  In many
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          2  instances, the racial effects of such laws are not

          3  mere happenstance but result from intentional

          4  discrimination.  For instance, Florida's felon

          5  disenfranchisement provisions can be traced back to

          6  1868, when the state created a series of laws

          7  designed both to undermine the political rights

          8  newly granted to African- Americans and to replenish

          9  the free workforce lost with the abolition of

         10  slavery. Throughout the 20th century and up to the

         11  present, felon disenfranchisement laws have proven

         12  to be alarmingly resilient and effective methods of

         13  removing African- American citizens from the voting

         14  rolls.

         15                 For the African- American community,

         16  ex- offender disenfranchisement is a fundamental and

         17  urgent issue of justice that must be addressed.  For

         18  the nation at large, the continuation of these

         19  policies means that we have yet to account for the

         20  true costs of criminalizing, marginalizing and

         21  effectively stripping the basis rights of

         22  citizenship from an increasing number of our fellow

         23  Americans.  There is little doubt that if we fail to

         24  reintegrate at least ex- offenders into mainstream

         25  America, the potential for future democratic
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          2  breakdown will increase greatly.

          3                 The 2000 presidential election

          4  highlighted the extent and impact of felon

          5  disenfranchisement laws.  In Florida, over 600,000

          6  ex- felons, all of whom had fully served their

          7  sentences, were excluded from participating in an

          8  election that turned on several hundred votes.

          9                 Recognition of the impact of felon

         10  disenfranchisement laws is spreading nationwide.

         11  Press coverage and academic attention to the issue

         12  increased considerably after the 2000 election.

         13  Lawsuits challenging disenfranchisement are pending

         14  in New York, Florida, Massachusetts, Virginia, and

         15  Washington.  Fortunately, over the past several

         16  years, some states, New Mexico, Connecticut,

         17  Maryland and Nevada, have taken steps to restore

         18  voting rights to some previously disenfranchised

         19  citizens.

         20                 In 2002, Maryland repealed its law

         21  that permanently disenfranchised those convicted of

         22  a second felony.  In 2001, Nevada repealed the

         23  state's five- year waiting period after completion

         24  of sentence for the restoration of voting rights;

         25  New Mexico repealed the state's lifetime ban on ex-
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          2  offenders' voting rights; and Connecticut enacted a

          3  law permitting probationers to register and vote,

          4  opening the franchise to 36,000 formerly excluded

          5  citizens.

          6                 In conclusion, the Brennan Center

          7  welcomes this resolution to encourage New York and

          8  United States legislators to move toward total

          9  enfranchisement of all our fellow citizens.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: If

         11  there are no other questions from the Committee,

         12  Council Member Perkins would like to make a few

         13  statements.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         15  very much Mr. Chairman.  I want to first thank you

         16  for Chairing this very, very important hearing and

         17  also I want to thank, in absence of the Chairwoman

         18  Yvette Clarke, for putting together this hearing in

         19  such an expeditious and important way.

         20                      We struggled with how we could

         21  create a balance when we put together this hearing.

         22  We wanted to hear from those that might be

         23  supportive of my Resolution and as well as those who

         24  might be in opposition.  And, unwittingly we

         25  succeeded exquisitely. Because, true there is a
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          2  consensus of those who testified that this

          3  Resolution is a step in the right direction, but

          4  there is opposition to the extent that it is not

          5  going far enough.  And so I feel quite satisfied in

          6  our efforts to have a balanced look at a very, very

          7  important democratic process, as we in this Council,

          8  and I in particular as the Chairman of the

          9  Governmental Operations Committee, seek to expand

         10  our democracy and take down those obstacles that are

         11  unnecessary, that are unfair, that are

         12  discriminatory.  I think that this hearing has shed

         13  some light on where we can go, in terms of some

         14  legislation on the Federal level, some potential

         15  legislation on the State level, some litigation that

         16  was introduced in honor of the legacy of the late

         17  Doctor King and so I think that we can feel quite

         18  confident that this Council has taken its

         19  responsibility serious in terms of fulfilling the

         20  quote on the wall that you cited. We don't see,

         21  except for felons either. I am confident that when

         22  this matter is up for vote that this Committee will

         23  support it and ultimately it will go to the body and

         24  this Council will be on record as recognizing that

         25  the right to vote is a human right that should be
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          2  available to all Americans regardless of the State

          3  in which they live, or regardless of the color of

          4  their skin or their sex, or anything like that.

          5                 So, I want to personally thank you

          6  all very much for this very fulfilling hearing on a

          7  very, very important matter for all New Yorkers.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank

         10  you Council Member Perkins. We also add in closing

         11  that not only is there great support within this

         12  body and this Committee for this Resolution but that

         13  you will be hearing shortly from our Chairperson

         14  Yvette Clarke, who could not be here today, who will

         15  be scheduling the actual vote from the Committee and

         16  then eventually the full vote of this body. That's

         17  our process and we hope to continue to communicate

         18  with you and by the same token request the same of

         19  you. We want to be kept abreast of the litigation.

         20  Obviously, it is an issue that impacts all of us in

         21  this City.

         22                 There are a lot of other issues that

         23  we have learned from the hearing just from your

         24  presentations, so I want to thank all of the

         25  panelists because sometimes you bring a perspective
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          2  or even some legal knowledge or even government

          3  knowledge from other parts of the country that we

          4  might not be aware of.  So, you play a very

          5  important role, so you should all hold your heads

          6  high and thank you all for your participation today.

          7                 At this time we will officially close

          8  the meeting.

          9                 (Meeting concluded at 12:25 p.m.)
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          9                 I, LENORE NAGLE, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.
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